

Running Head: DISSERTATION TITLE

Dissertation Title

John Doe

John Doe University

**Comment [E 1]:** We've adjusted the margins and title page per your university's style guidelines.

We've inserted a Running Head, as per APA.

**Formatted:** Centered

A clinical research project presented to the faculty of John Doe University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology.

**Deleted:** C

**Deleted:** R

**Deleted:** P

**Deleted:** .

July 2013

**Deleted:** .

DISSERTATION TITLE

Abstract

VIVITROL®, the first and only once-monthly, extended-release injectable medication for treating alcohol dependence, was approved by the FDA in April 2006. VIVITROL® targets psychosocial and physical drivers of chronic unhealthy drinking and can be effectively used for treating alcohol dependence. However, because VIVITROL® and other medication-assisted treatments require adherence to realize their full benefits, alcohol dependency treatment programs are reluctant to offer this treatment method to patients who have demonstrated non-adherence to substance abuse medication. The current study investigated the efficacy of VIVITROL® in improving alcohol dependency treatments offered by Los Angeles County and was an adjunct to a larger study by the UCLA Integrated Substance Abuse Programs and the Los Angeles County Substance Abuse Prevention and Control office (SAPC) that aimed to track clients receiving VIVITROL® treatment in an effort to identify ways the medication could be used more frequently for clinical practice. A goal of the current study was to identify the characteristics of patients who were more likely to refuse or cease VIVITROL® treatment in order to identify traits of and barriers to their treatment. The findings of this study can be used to inform future recommendations on how to address these barriers and improve treatment efficacy.

- Comment [Editor2]:** The title is considered a Level 0 heading per APA and is not bold.
- Comment [E 3]:** The abstract should also summarize your findings. This paragraph appears to be the abstract of a study proposal.
- Formatted:** Font: Not Bold, No underline
- Formatted:** Font: Not Bold, No underline
- Deleted:** is
- Deleted:** first ...nce- a
- Comment [E 4]:** APA: Acronyms should not have periods between them.
- Deleted:** which
- Deleted:** . It was
- Deleted:** .....
- Deleted:** a...pril of
- Deleted:**
- Deleted:** ,...unhealthy drinking and is ...an be
- Deleted:** in
- Deleted:** to the ...reating ment of
- Deleted:**
- Deleted:** adherence to substance- abuse medication is the major concern, ...ecause VIVITROL® and
- Deleted:**
- Deleted:** My
- Deleted:** was an adjunct to a larger study, with UCLA Integrated Substance Abuse Programs; and the Substance Abuse Prevention and Control office (SAPC). Tarzana Treatment Centers, Inc. been asked by UCLA and SAPC to ...nvestigated if ...
- Deleted:** ,
- Deleted:** , with
- Deleted:** ,
- Deleted:** UCLA and SAPC ...hat aimed...to
- Deleted:**
- Deleted:** this specific added on ...tudy was to
- Comment [E 5]:** Check for accuracy.
- Deleted:** ,...in order to identify traits of the thet
- Deleted:**
- Deleted:** that also might ...inform future
- Formatted:** Centered

Table of Contents

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

List of Tables ..... iv

Chapter 1: Introduction ..... 1

    The Problem ..... 1

    Background of the Problem ..... 5

Chapter 2: Literature Review ..... 7

    Urge to Drink ..... 8

    Personality Traits and Alcohol ..... 13

    Alcohol Dependence and Psychosocial Interventions ..... 17

    VIVITROL® and Psychosocial Interventions ..... 20

Chapter 3: Methods ..... 23

    Participants ..... 23

    Procedure ..... 24

    Measures ..... 25

Chapter 4: Results ..... 27

    Hypothesis Testing ..... 28

    Post Hoc Analysis Results ..... 28

Chapter 5: Discussion ..... 32

    Clinical Implications ..... 35

    Limitations ..... 36

    Future Recommendations ..... 37

References ..... 38

Appendix: Informed Consent Form ..... 49

-----TEXT REMOVED FOR SAMPLE PURPOSES-----

## Chapter 1: Introduction

### The Problem

Alcohol dependence is a neurobiological disease that is the third leading cause of depression and death in the United States (Krishnan-Sarin, O'Malley, & Krystal, 2008). According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2006), about 19 million adults (7.7%) in the United States abused or were dependent on alcohol in 2005 alone. During that period, only 1.6 million people reported receiving treatment for alcohol dependence, and even fewer reported receiving medication assisted treatment (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2006). Interest in alcohol treatment continues to grow as alcohol dependence persists as a chronic disease for many, typically entailing poor adherence to treatment and frequent relapses. Because of the major problems associated with relapse and poor adherence, there has been increasing research surrounding the use of pharmacotherapy, or medication assisted treatment, for alcohol dependence (Swift, 2007).

### Background of the Problem

Currently, the most common interventions for addressing alcohol dependence are primarily psychosocial treatments, also known as non-medication assisted treatments. These include substance abuse counseling; spiritually based approaches, such as Alcoholics Anonymous (Cutler & Fishbain, 2005; Williams, 2005); and, more recently, motivational interviewing (Lundahl & Burke, 2009). Despite the prevalence of these

**Comment [Editor6]:** This is an APA level 0 heading.

**Formatted:** Font: Not Bold

**Comment [D.E.7]:** Here is the first Level 1 heading, bold, centered (Level 2 headings will be identical in style but justified left).

**Formatted:** Font: Bold

**Comment [E 8]:** This introductory paragraph is quite short. Consider expanding your discussion of alcohol dependence, with the aim of providing a rationale for why your study is important. You might mention, for example, the social costs of alcoholism or provide a sense of the history of the disease using more recent (or more historical) data as a point of comparison with the 2005 data. You should also introduce the topic of your study and its objectives. At present, you mention medication-assisted treatment only briefly.

**Deleted:** known as ... neurobiological disease a (...)

**Deleted:** just ...005 alone. During that period, (...)

**Deleted:** s

**Deleted:** e...medication - (...)

**Deleted:** of ...n alcohol treatment continues to (...)

**Deleted:** ,

**Deleted:** which is due to ...s alcohol- (...)

**Deleted:** medical ...isease for many, which mo (...)

**Comment [E 9]:** It's not clear what you mean here. What problems? Be more precise in your language and elaborate.

**Deleted:** e

**Deleted:** is increasing ...urrounding the use of (...)

**Comment [Editor10]:** APA: Level 1 heading is bold, centered.

**Comment [E 11]:** This section should prepare the reader for all the information presented in the chapters 2 (literature review) and 3 (methodology). Provide a summary of major findings in the field (which will be discussed in greater detail in chapter 2), using keywords that will be employed in the following two chapters.

**Deleted:** T...he primary ...ost common (...)

**Deleted:** :...substance abuse counseling; (...)

**Deleted:** ...DUnfortunately, a big number of (...)

**Deleted:** ,

**Deleted:** and d

modes of treatment evidence suggests that psychosocial interventions used alone are not universally effective (Kenna, McGeary, & Swift 2004): A large number of patients relapse and fail to adhere to or complete psychosocial treatment.

---- TEXT REMOVED FOR SAMPLE PURPOSES ----

**Post Hoc Analysis Results**

Since the hypotheses were not supported, post hoc analysis was conducted by calculating Pearson product-moment correlations among all variables to determine if there were any significant relationships. This analysis revealed significant relationships for all three hypotheses.

The results in Table 1 illustrate the significance of correlation between the baseline UTD score and UTD scores in the second and third months (Hypothesis 1). The baseline UTD score and UTD score in the second month were found to be significantly correlated,  $r = .754, p < .01$ , and indicated a positive relationship between baseline and second-month UTD scores. Analysis of the relationship between the baseline third-month UTD scores also showed a statistically significant result,  $r = .617, p < .05$ . Furthermore, there was a significant correlation between UTD scores in the second and third months,  $r = .942, p < .01$ , which showed a positive relationship between the second-month and third-month scores. Additionally, post hoc analysis found a significant correlation between negative affect and UTD scores in the second month,  $r = .537, p < .05$ , and in the third month,  $r = .548, p < .05$ .

- Deleted: ¶
- Deleted: s
- Deleted: by
- Deleted: '... universally effective to everyone ...
- Comment [Editor12]: APA: Author names are joined by an ampersand.
- Deleted: either ...o adhere to or complete ...
- Deleted:
- Comment [Editor13]: APA: Level 1 heading is bold, centered.
- Deleted: is
- Deleted: es were run involving
- Deleted: for ...o determine whether ...
- Deleted:
- Deleted: When post hoc analysis was conducted, some ...his analysis revealed significant ...
- Comment [Editor14]: APA: Spell out numbers less than 10.
- Deleted: 3
- Deleted:
- Comment [E 15]: Note the edits in this paragraph and the next, in which you discuss the results presented in Table 2. Vary phrasing and sentence structure as much as possible, especially when discussing similar information.
- Deleted: ing
- Deleted: t... of correlations...between the base(...
- Comment [E 16]: Since you use this frequently, use an abbreviation, as you did in the title for Table 1. Be sure to introduce the abbreviation in ...
- Comment [Editor17]: APA: Spell out numbe(...
- Deleted: .
- Deleted: Urge to Drink
- Deleted: 3rd
- Deleted: for
- Deleted:
- Deleted: B
- Deleted: Urge to Drink ...TD score and Urge to(...
- Deleted: 2
- Deleted: was ...ound to be significantly correla(...
- Deleted:
- Deleted: As the baseline, Urge to Drink score ...
- Deleted:
- Deleted: And also...urthermore, there was a ...
- Deleted:
- Deleted: As the Urge to Drink score increased if(...

Table 1

*Significance of Correlation of Participants' Baseline, Second-Month, and Third-Month UTD Scores and Negative Affect*

Measure	UTD Score	
	Month 2	Month 3
Baseline UTD Score		
$r$	.754**	.617*
$p$ (two-tailed)	.002	.019
Negative Affect		
$r$	.537*	.548*
$p$ (two-tailed)	.048	.043

Note. UTD = Urge to Drink.  $N = 14$ .

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed). \*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

The results in Table 2 illustrate the significance of correlation between three pairs of personality characteristics (Hypothesis 2): negative affect and acting out, negative affect and hostile control, and health problems and suicidal thinking. Negative affect and acting out personality characteristics were found to be significantly correlated,  $r = .675$ ,  $p < .01$ , indicating a positive relationship between negative affect and personality traits for acting out. Negative affect and hostile control were also significantly correlated,  $r = .573$ ,  $p < .01$ , such that personality traits for hostile control increased with negative affect. A similar statistically significant positive relationship was found between health problems and suicidal thinking,  $r = .599$ ,  $p < .01$ .

- Deleted: ¶
- Comment [E 18]: APA: Note the formatting of the borders. There should be horizontal lines at the top of the table, below the header row, and at the bottom of the table.
- Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"
- Comment [E 19]: APA: The table title should be single-spaced.
- Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Line spacing: single
- Formatted: Font: Italic
- Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Line spacing: single
- Comment [E 20]: APA: Be sure to give proper labels for headers.
- Comment [E 21]: APA: For tables, place labels beneath
- Comment [E 22]: APA: Use abbreviations for common statistical figures. See APA manual for a list of common abbreviations.
- Comment [E 23]: APA: Be sure that table cells with decimals align at the decimal point.
- Comment [Editor24]: APA: "Note" should be italics. Use 12-point font.
- Comment [E 25]: APA: Information should be presented concisely (i.e., should not be repeated unnecessarily).
- Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"
- Deleted: t... of correlations...found
- Deleted: of the ...egative affect and acting out, ...
- Deleted:
- Deleted: A...ffect and A...cting O
- Deleted: at
- Deleted:
- Deleted: ... .01, indicating a positive relationsl
- Deleted: acting out
- Deleted:
- Deleted: A...ffect and H...ostile C...ontrol wer
- Deleted:
- Deleted: H
- Comment [E 26]: APA: All tables should be mentioned in the text; but do so only when necessary. "See the (sic) Table 2" was deleted.
- Deleted: S
- Deleted: were also significantly correlated at
- Deleted:
- Deleted: As health problems increased, went up so did suicidal thinking. See the Table 2.¶

Deleted: ¶

Table 2

Significance of Correlation of PAS Scores

Variable	Acting Out	Hostile Control	Suicidal Thinking
Negative Affect			
<i>r</i>	.675**	.573*	
<i>p</i> (two-tailed)	.008	.032	
Health Problems			
<i>r</i>			.599*
<i>p</i> (two-tailed)			.024

Note. PAS = XXXXX, N = 14.

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed). \*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).

-----TEXT REMOVED FOR SAMPLE PURPOSES-----

Comment [E 27]: APA: Table titles should use headline capitalization.

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 0.38"

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 0.45"

Formatted: Left

Formatted Table

Formatted: Space Before: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Space Before: 12 pt

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0", Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt

Formatted Table

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Right: 0.19", Space Before: 10 pt, After: 0 pt

Comment [E 28]: Give the full term.

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Deleted:

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Right: 0.19"

Deleted: 2

Deleted:

Deleted: 2

References

Alkermes. (2013). *VIVITROL* [Full prescribing information]. Waltham, MA: Author.

American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.

Anton, R. (2008). Understanding alcohol dependence, the brain, and VIVITROL®. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359, 715–721.

Anton, R., Moak, D., & Latham, P. (1996). The Obsessive Compulsive Drinking Scale: A new method of assessing outcome in alcoholism treatment studies. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 53(3), 225–231.

Anton, R., O'Malley, S., Ciraulo, D., Cisler, R., Couper, D., Donovan, D., . . . Zweben, A. (2006). Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence, the COMBINE study: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 295(17), 2003–2017.

Armor, D., & Polich, J. (1982). Measurement of alcohol consumption. In E. M. Pattison, & E. Kaufman (Eds.), *Encyclopedic handbook of alcoholism* (pp. 72–80). New York, NY: Gardner Press.

Bottlender, M., & Soyka, M. (2005). Outpatient alcoholism treatment: Predictors of outcome after 3 years. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 80(1), 83–89.

Cannon, D., Keefe, C., & Clark, L. (1997). Persistence predicts latency to relapse following inpatient treatment for alcohol dependence. *Addictive Behaviors*, 22, 535–543.

**Deleted:** ¶

**Formatted:** Font: Not Bold

**Comment [E 29]:** APA: Capitalize only the first word of descriptors.

**Comment [Ed30]:**

**Deleted:** P

**Deleted:** I

**Formatted:** Font: Italic

**Comment [E 31]:** APA: Italicize journal titles. See also corrections for Anton, Moak, & Latham (1996) and Bottlender & Soyka (2005).

**Comment [E 32]:** APA: Volume number should be followed by the issue number if parentheses if there is one. For example: *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359(2), 715–721.

**Deleted:** -

**Comment [E 33]:** APA: All initials should be followed by a period.

**Comment [Editor34]:** APA: Separate

**Deleted:**

**Formatted:** Font: Italic

**Comment [Editor35]:** APA: Journal volume numbers should be in italics.

**Deleted:** -

**Formatted:** Font: Italic

**Comment [Editor36]:** APA: Proper citation is *volume#(issue#)*, page–page. Note spacing.

**Formatted:** Font: Italic

**Deleted:**

**Deleted:**

**Deleted:** -

**Comment [E 37]:** APA: Separate the two authors by an ampersand. See also correction in the next entry.

**Comment [Editor38]:** APA: Publication year should be enclosed within parentheses.

**Comment [Editor39]:** APA: For two-letter initials, separate the letters with a space.

**Comment [E 40]:** APA: Abbreviations for "page" and "pages" (i.e., p. and pp.) should be followed by a period.

**Deleted:** -

**Comment [E 41]:** APA: Place a period after the publication year. See also correction in the next entry.

**Deleted:** and

**Deleted:** -

**Comment [E 42]:** APA: Add issue number after this in parentheses if available.

**Deleted:** -